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the harbour ferry
Before the river was narrowed and deepened by quays and wharves, the mouth of the Wear could be crossed on foot at low tide. There were also fords upstream, at Pallion and Hylton. Often, though, these crossings proved dangerous or impassable, so that by 1700 they had largely been replaced by ferry boats. The harbour ferry, known as the bishop’s or Sunderland ferry, was central to the life and commerce of the town from the Middle Ages and continued in operation until 1957. 

The earliest ferry is believed to have connected the foot of Bodlewell Lane, where stairs still led to a ferry landing in 1842, with a point opposite, near to St Peter’s in Monkwearmouth. By the late 17th century, more than one ferry may have operated across the harbour. There were two landings on each of the north and south sides, though not all were then in use. In 1695 the boat ran on to ‘waste and unbuilt ground’ on the Monkwearmouth bank, while on the south side, which was much more developed, access to the quaysides was often difficult. The low ferry, or coble, boat landing at the harbour mouth was filled with ballast and built upon by John Scarborough about 1680. The alternative high ferry boat landing, called Chapman’s or Palmer’s stairs after the owner and one-time tenant of neighbouring property, was arguably the king’s highway. Nonetheless the Chapman family made attempts to build over it from the middle of the 17th century. Chapman’s stairs seem to have been the same landing as that referred to elsewhere as Bodlewell Lane. This was the only viable one on the south side after Scarborough blocked the coble boat landing. Walter Ettrick’s new quay of c.1670 near the custom house, some distance to the east of Chapman’s stairs, proved too dangerous for passenger embarkation, though it was later used for the middle ferry, connecting with the ancient Folly Point landing on the north. 

By 1710 two routes, high and low, were in use across the harbour, and more than one boat may have been at work. While the Bishopwearmouth berths improved as new quays were built from the early 18th century, the northern landings, one to the east of Sir William Williamson’s North quay, the lower one at Sand Point facing Custom House quay, were rudimentary. Williamson and Anthony Ettrick, who held the ferry lease, gained permission in 1710 to establish a middle landing on the north, opposite Ettrick’s quay. 

Although the ferry was risky and uncomfortable, there was little alternative to using it before the Wearmouth bridge opened in 1796. The ferry lease was therefore very profitable. By an arrangement which lasted into the 17th century, the bishop of Durham let the ferry to generations of the Bowes family, at an annual rent of £4. Walter Ettrick took the lease in 1661, and his descendants held it until the bridge commissioners took over in 1796. The running of the boats - in the late 17th century a rowing boat propelled by two men - was subcontracted to other parties. 

Sources: 

Medieval ferry: VCH Durham, II, 176; Middlemiss, ‘Sunderland ferry’, 3-4; Sunderland Library, Corder Mss, 29, 426-7; Piper, Durham Monks, 3; above, chapter 3; high and low ferries: Hydrographic Office, L3222; TNA, E134/7Wm3/East20 (Durham); E134/7Wm3/Mich42 (Durham); Sunderland City Library, Corder Mss, 33, 407; Award of Sir Robert Eden, L624 W27, 4-6; OS Durh VIII.14, .15 (1897); Northumb. RO, ZMI/B8/VII/9; leases: TNA, DURH 3/86 m. 9d (32 Elizabeth), 37th Deputy Keeper’s Report, 105; E134/7Wm3/East20 (Durham); E134/7Wm3/Mich42 (Durham); DCL, Sharp 2, p. 253; Sharp 111, pp. 8, 67, 140; DULASC, Old University Manuscript E.I.9, ff. 34, 142.
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